
REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 
ON-AIRPORT AUTOMOBILE RENTAL CONCESSION 

HARRISBURG INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 
ADDENDUM 2 – AUGUST 23, 2019 

 
 
PART 1:  Questions from Benard Hubbard  - August 2, 2019 
 
General 

 
1. Question:   Will all terms and conditions specified in the RFP and any/all issued addenda will 

be incorporated and made a part of the Concession Agreement?  
 
SARAA Response:  Yes, if conditions specified in the RFP and any/all issued addenda are 
relative to terms and conditions specified in the Concession Agreement.   

 
2. Question:   Will the Authority commit to disallowing additional brands to be added to any 

bidder’s concession agreement or existing contract during the term of the agreement?   
 

SARAA Response:  SARAA will not allow additional brands for an on-airport concession 
agreement with the exception of filling a vacancy during the term of the Agreement.  
SARAA is open to off-airport concession agreements.  

 
3. Question:   Will the Authority return any proposal guarantee within ten (10) days after RACs 

are awarded the concessions? 
 

SARAA Response:  See RFP, page 12.   
“The Authority will return or release any proposal Guaranty of a proposer not selected 
within thirty (30) days after the award of the Concession has been executed, or sooner if 
the final decision has been made by the Authority that no further Proposals will be 
accepted.” 

 
4. Question:   When will proposals be opened? 
 

SARAA Response:  SARAA is not planning a public opening. 
 

5. Question:   Will the proposal results be read aloud?  If so, when? 
 

SARAA Response:  No – SARAA is not planning a public opening. 
 

RFP 
 
6. Pg 8, Addenda. Question:  Please correct pre-proposal meeting date from November 3rd to 

July 23rd. 
 



SARAA Response:  Corrected. 
 

7. Pg 8, Concession Agreement.  Comment: We respectfully object to changes to pertinent 
terms of the Agreement after the bid due date.  To make an informed decision, we must 
have a full understanding of the terms under which we will operate. 

 
SARAA Response:  Final approval of the Concession Agreement is the responsibility of 
the SARAA Board.  It is not the intention of SARAA to materially modify pertinent terms 
of the Agreement. 
 

8. Pg 9, Disqualification.  Question:   Is PENRAC, LLC in default or arrears in previous or existing 
agreements?  If so, please explain. 

 
SARAA Response:  At the time of this response PENRAC, LLC is not in default or arrears 
in previous or existing agreements. 
 

9. Pg 9, Disqualification.  Question:   Please confirm that Proposers may submit a bid for more 
than one brand. 

 
SARAA Response:  Each brand shall propose on its own and may not be combined with 
another brand.  Limited to one proposal per brand, independently prepared and not 
combined with other proposals. 
 

10. Pg 10, Selection Criteria. Question:  As we emphasized at the Mandatory Pre-Bid 
Conference, will the Authority limit the selection criteria to the MAG or Revenue to the 
Authority? 

 
SARAA Response:  No change to selection criteria. 

 
11. Pg 10, Selection Criteria. Question:  What constitutes an insufficient MAG? 
 

SARAA Response:  A MAG less than $125,000 
 

12. Pg 10, Evaluation. Question:  As we emphasized at the Mandatory Pre-Bid Conference, will 
the Authority waive the qualifications, experience, and references evaluation factors for 
incumbent concessionaires?   

 
SARAA Response:  See response to Question 10. 

  
13.  Pg 10, Award. Question:  Will the Authority notify successful proposers via email in addition 

to notice by certified mail?  
 

SARAA Response:  Yes.  As a courtesy, SARAA intends to notify all proposers via email in 
addition to providing notice by certified mail. 

 



14. Pg 11, Award. Question:  Will the Authority allow 10 “business” days after receipt of mailing 
for successful proposers to deliver executed Concession Agreements and the required 
Certificates of Insurance to the Authority? 

 
SARAA Response:  Yes. 
 

15. Pg 14, Checklist – Comment: With respect to #2, the term “proper manner” could be open 
to various interpretations because the RACs and the Authority may have completely 
different ideas of what constitutes “proper manner”.  Question: Since the Q&A concept is 
not a submission requirement pursuant to the proposal process, will the Authority consider 
removing #2 from the checklist.  Additionally, please confirm RACs do NOT have to submit 
the Checklist with bid. 

 
SARAA Response:  SARAA will remove the phrase “and resolved in the proper manner” 
from item no. 2 of the Proposer’s Check List.  The Proposer’s Check List is provided as a 
courtesy and does not need to be submitted with the proposal. 
 

16. Pg 15, Airport Information. Question:  Will the Authority provide 2019 YTD enplanements, 
deplanements, and 2019 YTD Gross Revenues separated by company? 

 
SARAA Response:  YTD airport activity statistics are available on our website 
www.flyhia.com.  Gross receipts (by company) are currently issued to all rental car 
operators monthly.    
 

17. Pg 17, Minimum Annual Guarantee (MAG).  Question: Will the Authority remove any 
reference to the MAG being a “percentage of sales?”  Likewise, will the Authority remove 
any references to a “monthly MAG”? 

 
SARAA Response:  Yes. The revised definition is as follows: 
“Minimum Annual Guarantee will mean the dollar amount proposed by the Proposer for 
the First Lease Year that represents the minimum amount of rental to be paid by the 
Proposer for the concession rights to be granted to the Proposer by the Authority.  In the 
second and subsequent years of this Agreement, the Minimum Annual Guaranteed 
Concession Fee shall be eighty-five percent (85%) of the Concession Fee paid to the 
Authority by Concessionaire for the preceding year, but never less than the Minimum 
Annual Guaranteed Concession Fee for the initial Lease Year.  The Minimum Monthly 
Guarantee shall be one-twelfth of the Minimum Annual Guaranteed Concession Fee.  
The Minimum Annual Guarantee to be considered by the Authority will be $125,000.” 
 

18. Pg 20 & 21, Question:  Will the Authority remove the need for the RACs to come to an 
agreement on what the allocation of R/R and counter/office space should be and instead 
use our MAG rank as the method for the initial allocation of counter/office space and bid 
share for R/R?  

 
SARAA Response:  No. 

http://www.flyhia.com/


Proposal, Section II 
 
19. Pg 28 of PDF under proposal deposit Question:  Will the Authority please provide notice 

award by email rather than certified mail?  Please modify the following language as 
follows:” proof of execution within ten (10) business days after the receipt of mailing.” Our 
experience informs us that the schedule will be too compressed under the current 
framework. 

 
SARAA Response:  Yes.  See response to questions no. 13 and no. 14 

 
20. Form 3 (page 5 of Proposal forms), Corporation document.  Please confirm that we can 

complete this form as a limited liability company? 
 

SARAA Response:  Confirmed. 
 

21. Names/residences of persons interested.  Please confirm we can use business addresses 
and not residences of persons.  

 
SARAA Response:   Confirmed.  
 

22. Qualifications, Para 6.  Please confirm we can limit the lists of lawsuits (if any) to those 
pertaining to other airport contracts. 

 
SARAA Response:  No change. 
 

23. Acknowledgement of Proposer form Pg 40 – Please confirm that the 1st “By” line is for 
signature and 2nd line is for typed name/title?  Please confirm that 1st line for “Witnessed 
or Attested” is for signature and the 2nd line is for typed name/title. 

 
SARAA Response:  Confirmed. 
 

24. Proposal Bond, Proposal forms.  Question:  May we use our own bond form (attached), 
which is pre-approved by our surety, in lieu of Authority’s form? If not, will Authority be 
providing a bond specific to Susquehanna Airport Authority, not Boise? 

 
SARAA Response:  No.  SARAA’s revised proposal bond form is attached to this 
addendum. 
 

25. Section 5.02.  CFC.  Question: Will the airport provide us with an updated account of the 
CFC revenues and application of them to the debt service and operation and maintenance 
expenses? 

 
SARAA Response:  SARAA does not agree to provide a report of CFC revenues as part of 
the RFP process however SARAA will update and provide separately outside of the RFP 
process. 



 
26. Section 5.02.  CFC. Question:  Will the airport please confirm when the CFC is scheduled to 

end? 
 
SARAA Response:  The CFC is not scheduled to end during the five year term of the new 
Concession Agreement. 

 
27. Pg 22 Periodic Space Reallocation #2.  Question: Will the Authority consider changing this 

language to state “market share based on prior 12 months?” 
 

SARAA Response:  No. 
 

Revised Indemnity and Insurance Provisions 
 
28. Pg 47 (b)(i)(b) Employers Liability Limits – Comment: To eliminate the need for Commercial 

Umbrella Liability under (iii)(c) below, please increase the following limits as follows: 
Bodily Injury by Accident: $2,000,000 Each Accident  
Bodily Injury by Disease: $2,000,000 Each Employee 
Bodily Injury by Disease: $2,000,000 Policy Limit 
 
Question:  Will the Authority accept this recommendation? 
 
 SARAA Response:  Yes. 
 

29. Pg 47 (b)(i)(c) – We request the following language be deleted from this paragraph: “naming 
The Authority and amended to apply to contracts under which the Concessionaire is not 
performing work.” Workers Compensation only covers when workers are working not when 
they are not performing work.  
 
Question:  Will the Authority accept this recommendation? 
 

SARAA Response:  SARAA views this as a Landlord/Tenant relationship where the 
Concessionaire will not necessarily be performing work for the Authority.  We see no 
harm in maintaining this wording. 

 
30. Pg 47 (b)(ii)(a) – Commercial General Liability - Comment: To eliminate the need for 

Commercial Umbrella Liability under (iii)(c) below, please increase the following limits as 
follows: 
i. General Aggregate:  $4,000,000 
iii. Each Occurrence:  $3,000,000 
 
Question:  Will the Authority accept this recommendation? 
 
 SARAA Response:  Yes. 
 



31. Pg 48 top of page-(c) – Please strike the following language as follows: “(including Liability 
for Employee Injury assumed under a Contract)” 
 
Question:  Will the Authority accept this recommendation? 
 

SARAA Response:  No, if the respondent is using the Standard IOS Policy Form CG 00 01, 
then it is already included. 

 
32. Pg 48 top of page-(c) – Please modify the Standard ISO Policy Form as follows: CG 00 01 10 

01. 
 

Question:  Will the Authority accept this recommendation? 
 
 SARAA Response:  Yes. 
 

33. Pg 48 top of page-(c) – Please strike the following language as follows: “or any other 
provision excluding coverage for the Authority’s Sole Negligence which has been assumed 
by Contract.” 

 
Question:  Will the Authority accept this recommendation? 
 
 SARAA Response:  No.  Concessionaire’s Insurance (b),(2), (c) will remain as written. 

 
34. Pg 48 (iii) Automobile Liability (a)(ii) – We request the following language be deleted from 

this paragraph: “including Liability for Employee Injury assumed under a Contract”. Workers 
Compensation covers employee injury eliminating the need the for this coverage. 

 
Question:  Will the Authority accept this recommendation? 
 
 SARAA Response:  Yes. 

 
35. Pg 48 (iii) Automobile Liability (b) –   Comment: To eliminate the need for Commercial 

Umbrella Liability under (iii)(c) below, please increase the following limit as follows: 
Per Accident Combined Single Limit: $3,000,000 
 
Question:  Will the Authority accept this recommendation? 
 
 SARAA Response:  Yes. 
 

36. Pg 48 (iii) Automobile Liability (c) – Please delete section (c) Commercial Umbrella Liability 
in its entirety. We increased the limits as modified above to eliminate the requirement of 
Commercial Umbrella Liability. 
 
Question:  Will the Authority accept this recommendation? 
 



SARAA Response:  Yes.  Limits can be achieved by a combination of primary and excess 
policies. 

 
37. Pg 48 (v) Self Insured Retentions/Deductibles: All deductibles and SIRs exceed $25,000.  We 

request this section (v) be deleted in its entirety. 
 
Question:  Will the Authority accept this recommendation? 
 

SARAA Response:  No.  Please provide deductible levels for SARAA’s review and 
approval. 

 
38. Pg 48 section (vii) – Please modify this paragraph by deleting the following language, “even 

for claims regarding their sole negligence on the above General Liability and Umbrella 
Liability coverages described above” and replace with the following language, “where their 
interest may appear for liabilities arising in whole or in part by the conduct of the 
Concessionaire.” 

 
Question:  Will the Authority accept this recommendation? 
 
 SARAA Response:  No.  Concessionaire’s Insurance (b),(vii) will remain as written. 
 

39. p.49 (x) – Please strike the following language as follows, “the term hereof, or no later than 
thirty (30) days prior to . . .” 

 
Question:  Will the Authority accept this recommendation? 
 

SARAA Response:  No.  The option is to provide the updated COI the 1st day of January 
or 30 days prior to the expiration of current policies. 

 
2014 Concession Agreement 

 
40. Section 5.03.  Radius Clause.  Comment: We agree with the airport that no auto rental 

business shall be diverted from the airport.  As a generally consideration, our company does 
not engage in the practice of diverting airport business.  Neither do we train or instruct 
rental agents to divert airport business.  Question: Has there been any incidence of airport 
business being diverted? 

 
SARAA Response:  At the time of this response, SARAA is not aware of any specific 
incidents of rental car diversion of airport business. 

 
41. Section 5.03.  Radius Clause.  Question:  Will you remove this radius clause in its entirety? 
 

SARAA Response:  No. 
 

 



PART 2:  Questions from Scott Pflueger - July 22, 2019 
 

QUESTIONS RE: RFP: 

1. In interests of being “green” kindly limit the number of copies required to Original 
plus one hard copy. 

 
SARAA Response:  Agreed.  Please provide one hard copy of the proposal and 
proposal forms as well as an electronic copy of both the proposal and the proposal 
forms.   

 
2. Please allow dual branding, so related brands may share space.   
 

SARAA Response:  No dual branding.  RFP remains unchanged. 
 

3. The final addenda should be at least ten (10) business days before the due date 
(which we appreciate may change by addendum).  

 
SARAA Response:  Agreed.  See Addendum 1 dated July 26, 2019 

 
4. We respectfully request the due date be extended into September. 
 

SARAA Response:  Agreed.  See Addendum 1.  Proposals due September 27, 2019 
 

5. With regard to the Proposal Bond, please eliminate the Attorney-in-Fact requirement 
(page 12) with respect to a certified copy of power of attorney (our legal counsel sign 
bonds, and lawyers all possess powers of attorney) and “proof of agency.”  We will 
use the form provided. 

 
SARAA Response:  RFP remains unchanged. 

 
6. Please reduce number of credit references to two (2) for incumbents. 
 

SARAA Response:  RFP remains unchanged. 
 

7. Please restrict the list of terminated locations to involuntary only within last five 
years.  Voluntary terminations are strictly due to lack of business at a location. 

 
SARAA Response:  RFP remains unchanged. 

 
8. Please allow at least ten (10) business days after receipt (not mailing) of the award 

and receipt of execution-ready Concession Agreements for the return of the signed 
Agreements. 

 
SARAA Response:  Approved.  Refer to Part 1, Question 14. 



 
9. Please make the due date for concession fees the twentieth (20th) day of the 

following month. 
 

SARAA Response:  RFP remains unchanged. 
 

10. If a performance bond will be due after award, kindly make the amount some 
percent of first year’s MAG so it is a set dollar amount for term. 

 
SARAA Response:  Agreed.  50% of first year’s MAG with no adjustment during the 
initial term. 

 
11. If you revise the RFP document, please use page numbers for Section II. 
 

SARAA Response:  Agreed. 
 

  QUESTIONS RE: CONCESSION AGREEMENT: 

1. Article 1, definition of “Transaction Day:” Please provide a two hour grace period 
for the purpose of calculating CFCs, as we provide such grace period to our 
loyalty customers. 

 
SARAA Response:  Language from sample Concession Agreement remains unchanged. 

 
2. Article IV, Term. Please update the term dates. 

 
SARAA Response:  Final agreement will define revised term dates. 

 
3. Article 5, Rents: Please consider an annual cap on the rent increase for counter 

space, any annual rent increase should be reasonable. 
 
SARAA Response:  No change:  “The Authority may adjust said rental rate on an annual 

basis (i.e., January 1st of each Lease Year) to be consistent with the office rental rate 
charged to the signatory airlines in the Terminal Building.” 
 
4. Article 5, definition of “Gross Revenue:” Please remove subsection (6) and 

exclude fuel and fuel related services from concessionable revenue. 
 
SARAA Response:  No change to definition of Gross Receipts. 

 
5. Article 5.01(d): Please modify so that the Concessionaire shall remit the revenue 

from CFC collections on the twentieth (20th) day of each month. 
 
SARAA Response:  No change.  Concessionaire shall remit CFC collections to the 
Authority on the 15th day of each month for the preceding calendar month. 



 
 
PART 3:  Questions from Solomon Cramer - July 25, 2019 
 

1. Can questions be emailed or do they need to be submitted in “writing”? 
 

SARAA Response:  Questions sent via email will be accepted by the Authority. 


